IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

WARREN L. LEMMON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR MASON COUNTY

The Honorable Amber L. Finlay

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH M. HROBSKY Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In violation of Mr. Lemmon's constitutional right to privacy and security against unreasonable searches and seizures, the trial court admitted items seized from Mr. Lemmon's property pursuant to a search warrant that was not supported by probable cause, insofar as the affidavit in support of the warrant did not establish the reliability of a confidential informant.
- 2. The trial court applied the incorrect standard of review when it assessed the reliability of a confidential informant based on "the totality of the information set forth in the affidavit," a standard of review that is incompatible with the Washington Constitution.
- 3. To the extent it could be considered Findings of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 4.
- 4. To the extent it could be considered Findings of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 6, insofar as it provided, "The controlled buy, as set forth in the affidavit, provides sufficient basis for reliability of the informant."

- 5. To the extent it could be considered Findings of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 7.
- 6. To the extent it could be considered Findings of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in entering CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 8.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. In Washington, when an affidavit in support of a search warrant is based on information from a confidential informant, the affidavit must satisfy the two-prong "Aguilar-Spinelli¹ test," that is, it must establish both the credibility of the informant and the basis of the informant's knowledge. By contrast, federal courts adhere to the "totality of the circumstances test," wherein the two prongs are considerations only, and a strong showing on one prong can overcome a weak showing of the other prong. Here, when the court referred both to Aguilar-Spinelli and to the totality of the circumstances, did the court apply the wrong standard of review? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 2. When an affidavit in support of a search warrant is based on information from a confidential informant, the affidavit must set forth sufficient facts and circumstances for a magistrate to independently assess

¹ Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 413, 89 S.Ct. 584, 21 L.Ed.2d 637 (1969); Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 114, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 12 L.Ed.2d 723 (1964).

the informant's reliability. Here, where the affidavit asserted an informant was reliable based on an improperly executed controlled buy, as well as conclusions and innocuous facts, rather than specific facts and circumstances, did the trial court err in ruling the affidavit established the informant's reliability and probable cause to search Mr. Lemmon's property? (Assignments of Error 1, 3, 4, 5, 6)

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

On August 10, 2011, Mason County Sheriff's Office Detective

Steve Valley obtained a search warrant for Warren Lemmon's property,
attached as Appendix A. CP 57-60. In his affidavit in support of the
warrant, Detective Valley asserted a confidential informant reported he
could purchase methamphetamine and heroin from Mr. Lemmon at his
residence. CP 57. According to Detective Valley, this information was
"corroborated by multiple reliable sources over the past year." CP 57.

Detective Valley and other officers arranged a purported "controlled buy,"
where the informant was first searched for contraband, issued inventoried
money, and dropped off at an intersection near Mr. Lemmon's residence
with instructions to purchase a pre-determined quantity of
methamphetamine from Mr. Lemmon. CP 57-58. According to the
affidavit, however, officers could not maintain constant surveillance of the
confidential informant "due to the rural setting and location of his

residence." CP 58. Some time later, the confidential informant returned to the intersection, produced methamphetamine he allegedly purchased from Mr. Lemmon, and gave a description of Mr. Lemmon's property. CP 58.

Detective Valley also asserted the informant had prior felony convictions for theft, possession of stolen property, and felony possession of marijuana, he previously had provided information about illegal activity that resulted in "several arrests and felony charges," he made statements against his penal interest, he had extensive knowledge of illegal drugs, and he was motivated by the opportunity to receive favorable treatment in charges pending against him. CP 58-59.

On August 15, 2011, officers executed the search warrant for Mr. Lemmon's property and seized items that resulted in charges against him of possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1), and unlawful possession of a controlled substance, in violation of RCW 69.50.4013(1).

Mr. Lemmon moved to suppress the seized items, pursuant to CrR 3.6, on the grounds the search warrant affidavit did not establish probable cause; there was insufficient evidence to establish the reliability of the confidential informant, and the alleged "controlled buy" was not properly executed because the officers did not maintain surveillance on the

informant due to the alleged "rural setting" of Mr. Lemmon's residence. RP 3-9, 14-15; CP 45-60. He also moved to excise from the affidavit any assertions regarding the purported controlled buy, pursuant to *Franks v*. *Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1976), on the grounds the affidavit was defective and misleading insofar as it failed to mention the presence of other residences in the area, any one of which the informant could have accessed during the alleged "controlled buy." CP 28-32. The court denied both motions. RP 18, 107-10; CP 23-24.

Following a trial on stipulated facts, Mr. Lemmon was convicted as charged. RP 111-14; CP 19-21.

D. ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Lemmon's motion to suppress evidence obtained pursuant to a search warrant that was not supported by probable cause, due to the failure to establish the reliability of a confidential informant.

1. A search warrant must be supported by facts and circumstances that establish probable cause to believe a crime is being committed and evidence of that crime will be found at the location to be searched.

The federal and state constitutions protect citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV²; Wash.

² The Fourth Amendment provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not

Const. art. I, sec. 7. ³ A search warrant may issue only upon a showing of probable cause, commonly established by facts asserted in an affidavit in support of the warrant. State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). Probable cause exists if a reasonable, prudent person would understand from the facts asserted in the affidavit that criminal activity is occurring and that evidence of the activity will be found at the place to be searched when the warrant is executed. State v. Thein, 138 Wn,2d 133. 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). The search warrant affidavit must set forth specific facts and circumstances sufficient for a magistrate to independently determine the existence of probable cause. "[T]he determination of probable cause must be made by a magistrate based on the facts presented to the magistrate, instead of being made by police officers in the field." State v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354, 360, 275 P.3d 314 (2012). Mere conclusions, generalizations, suspicions, or the personal belief of the affiant are insufficient. Thein, 138 Wn.2d at 148-51; Vickers, 148 Wn.2d at 108.

violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

The Fourth Amendment is applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961).

³ Article 1, section 7 provides, "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, with authority of law."

A trial court's review of a search warrant is limited to the four corners of the affidavit asserting probable cause. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008). The trial court's determination regarding the sufficiency of the affidavit is a conclusion of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *Id.*; *State v. Chamberlin*, 161 W.2d 30, 40-41, 162 P.3d 389 (2007). Although a trial court's determination is afforded deference, a reviewing court "will not defer to a magistrate's decision if the information on which it is based is not sufficient to establish probable cause. *State v. Perez*, 92 Wn. App. 1, 4, 963 P.2d 881 (2002).

2. In Washington, when a confidential informant's assertions are the basis for probable cause to issue a search warrant, the search warrant affidavit must establish both the informant had a "basis of knowledge" for his allegations and the reliability of the informant.

When a confidential informant provides the basis for probable cause to issue a search warrant, the affidavit in support of the warrant must establish both the basis of the informant's knowledge and the reliability of the informant. *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 432, 433, 688 P.2d 136 (1984).

The appropriate analysis under the Washington Constitution on which defendant relies, is the *Aguilar-Spinelli* 2-prong test. This requires that facts and circumstances be shown from which the magistrate can, independently of the officer seeking the warrant, evaluate the informant's basis of knowledge and personal credibility or veracity. Both the reliability of the manner by which the

information was acquired and the reliability of the informant must be shown in an effort to determine present reliability. Conclusory assertions of reliability will not suffice; and our determination of reliability, though limited to the record, will not be limited by the officer's interpretation of any grounds for reliability asserted in the affidavit itself.

State v. Casto, 39 Wn. App. 229, 232-33, 692 P.2d 890 (1984); accord Jackson, 102 Wn.2d at 435.

The two prongs are separate and both must be established in the affidavit for the search warrant; a strong showing on one prong will not overcome a deficiency in the other. *Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d at 437, 441. If either prong is not established, the search warrant is deficient and any evidence obtained pursuant to the defective warrant must be suppressed. *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 368.

3. The trial court applied the incorrect standard of review when it assessed the reliability of a confidential informant based on "the totality of the information set forth in the affidavit," a standard of review that is incompatible with Article 1, section 7 of the Washington Constitution.

The trial court concluded, "In determining the reliability of the confidential informant, the Court looks at the totality of the information set forth in the affidavit." CP 24 (CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 3). This standard of review has been expressly rejected as inadequate under the Washington Constitution.

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution affords greater protection of an individual's privacy interests than does the Fourth Amendment to the federal constitution. *State v. Valdez*, 167 Wn.2d 761, 771-72, 224 P.3d 751 (2009). Article I, section 7 focuses on the "privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from government trespass," whereas the Fourth Amendment focuses on the reasonableness of a citizen's expectation of privacy. *State v. Myrick*, 102 Wn.2d 506, 510-11, 688 P.2d 151 (1984).

In *Jackson*, the Court compared the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test to the more lenient Fourth Amendment "totality of the circumstances" test, adopted in *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983). 102 Wn.2d at 435-37. The "totality of circumstances" test merely uses the two prongs of *Aguilar-Spinelli* as general factors or guidelines for evaluating the reliability of an informant, whereas the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test requires each prong be independently satisfied. *Id.* at 435-36. The Court specifically rejected the federal "totality of the circumstances" test, and ruled the greater privacy protections, embodied in Article I, section 7, require the search warrant affidavit must establish both the reliability and the basis of knowledge of the informant. *Id.* at 443.

- 4. The search warrant affidavit did not establish the informant's reliability.
 - a. The affidavit did not assert sufficient specific facts to allow an independent assessment of the informant's reliability.

A heightened showing of reliability is required where, as here, the magistrate does not know the identity of the informant, or the informant is a professional informant, because such informants are more likely to provide information "colored by self-interest." *State v. Ibarra*, 61 Wn. App. 695, 699, 812 P.2d 114 (1991); *accord State v. Rodriguez*, 53 Wn. App. 571, 575-77, 769 P.2d 309 (1989). Here, however, the search warrant affidavit provided only scant specific information about the informant. First, Detective Valley asserted the informant reported Mr. Lemmon sold drugs from his house and "[t]he aforementioned information has been corroborated by multiple reliable sources over the past year." CP 57. This bolstering assertion is conclusory and provides no information for an independent evaluation by a magistrate or reviewing court.

Detective Valley also asserted that the informant gave an accurate description of Mr. Lemmon's property. CP 58. Such innocuous facts, however, merely indicate the informant was familiar with Mr. Lemmon's property, but add nothing to the determination of the informant's credibility. "Corroboration of public or innocuous facts only shows that

the informer has some familiarity with the suspect's affairs. Such corroboration only justifies an inference that the informer has some knowledge of the suspect and his activities, not that criminal activity is occurring." *Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d at 438.

The trial court concluded, "Information the confidential informant has provided information [sic] in the past which has led to arrests and felony charges are enough to establish the reliability of the informant." CP 24 (CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 4). Detective Valley asserted the informant had provided "information about narcotic activity, illegal firearms and felony warrants in the past that have led to several arrests and felony charges." CP 58. However, the affidavit did not indicate how far in the past the informant provided that information, the circumstances in which the informant divulged the information, how many "arrests and felony charges" resulted from the past information, or whether the information resulted in any convictions. By contrast, in State v. Fisher, the Court noted that reliability may be established "if information has been given which has led to arrests and convictions." 96 Wn.2d 962, 965, 639 P.2d 743 (1982); accord State v. Taylor, 74 Wn. App. 111, 119, 872 P.2d 53 (1994) (informant "had a 2 ½ year track record of providing accurate information which led to numerous arrests and drug-related convictions,"): State v. Selander, 65 Wn. App. 134, 137, 827 P.2d 1090 (1992)

("Reliability is sufficiently shown if the informant has given information in the past which has led to a conviction.").

The trial court further concluded, "The Court finds that, in itself, the track record of the confidential informant is sufficient to establish reliability of the confidential informant under *Agular-Spinelli* [sic]." CP 24 (CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 7). But the court did not identify its understanding of the informant's track record, thereby precluding appellate review.

b. The controlled buy was not properly executed.

The trial court concluded, "The controlled buy, as set forth in the affidavit, provides sufficient basis for reliability of the informant," and "The use of the word 'rural' by Det. Valley in describing the area and location of the Defendant's residence ... indicates a complete lack of other buildings or residences in the area" CP 24, 25 (CrR 3.6 Conclusion of Law 6. A properly executed "controlled buy" may establish an informant's reliability. *Casto*, 39 Wn. App. at 234. Here, however, the evidence establishing the purported controlled buy was defective, because the officers did not observe the informant go onto Mr. Lemmon's property and other residences in the area were accessible to the informant.

i. A properly executed controlled buy requires direct observation or surveillance of the informant.

[A] "controlled buy" is a police operation where an informant and any vehicle being used is searched before a scheduled drug purchase to ensure that the informant does not have any drugs, weapons, or personal money available for use. The informant then receives prerecorded or otherwise traceable money from the police, purchases drugs while under police surveillance, and turns the drugs and any money over to the police. The informant and any vehicle used are immediately searched again after the drug purchase.

State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 396 n.2, 267 P.3d 511 (2011); accord Casto, 39 Wn. App. at 234 ("In a 'controlled buy,' an informant claiming to know that drugs are for sale at a particular place is given marked money, searched for drugs, and observed while sent into the specified location. If the informant 'goes in empty and comes out full,' his assertion that drugs were available is proven, and his reliability is confirmed.).

ii. The alleged controlled buy here was improperly executed because the informant was not under direct observation or surveillance, and references in the search warrant affidavit to the controlled buy should have been excised.

In the search warrant affidavit, Detective Valley asserted he did not see the informant enter or leave Mr. Lemmon's property. "[A Special Operations Group (SOG)] Detective drove the [informant] to the intersection of Centerline and Rivendale. SOG Detectives couldn't keep a

constant visual on the [informant] all the way down to Lemmon's residence, due to the rural setting and location of his residence. The [informant] walked to Lemmon's residence, at the end of Centerline and purchased a predetermined amount of methamphetamine from Warren Lemmon." CP 58. Accordingly, the informant was not under direct observation or continued surveillance, and the officers could not independently corroborate the informant's allegations that he actually went to Mr. Lemmon's property, as opposed to a different residence in the area.

Following the suppression hearing, the court ruled:

When I see the rural setting location, as I indicated, the Court is thinking of it being amidst some trees and not amidst other residences. And a common sense reading of this is that [the informant] went to that residence in order to obtain the drugs and then came back.

But, I would -- if this was a situation where there was multiple residences in the area, the Court would suppress, but that's not the case. That's not the information provided to the issuing magistrate, not to this court. So, based on the above, the Court would find that the Court will deny the 3.6 motion.

RP 18. At a subsequently conducted a *Franks*⁴ hearing, however, Mr. Lemmon established the presence of other residences near his residence that were accessible to the informant. Detective Valley testified that he used the term "rural setting" because Mr. Lemmon's property was "completely wooded" and zoned Rural 10, that is, ten or more acres. RP 81. He described Mr. Lemmon's property as located at the end of a deadend county road that had a driveway across from Mr. Lemmon's property. RP 81. In addition, Detective Valley described two other driveways and another road near the intersection where the informant was left. RP 93-94; Ex. 12. The detective acknowledged it was "possible" the informant went to another residence in the area. RP 98.

Accordingly, the court's erroneously failed to excise from the search warrant affidavit all reference to the improperly executed controlled buy, and its reliance on the controlled buy to establish the reliability of the informant was misplaced.

At a *Franks* hearing, if a defendant establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that the affiant make a material omission or misrepresentation, such omission or misrepresentation must be excised. *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 155-56, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1976); *State v. Cord*, 103 Wn.2d 361, 367, 693 P.2d 81 (1985); *State v. Chenoweth*, 127 Wn. App. 444, 455-56, 111 P.3d 1217 (2005), *aff'd*, 160 Wn.2d 454, 158 P.3d 595 (2007). An omission rises to the level of a misrepresentation when the challenged information was necessary to establish probable cause. *State v. Atchley*, 142 Wn. App. 147, 158, 173 P.3d 323 (2007). If the modified affidavit does not support probable cause, the warrant is void and the evidence obtained pursuant to the warrant must be excluded. *Chenoweth*, 127 Wn. App. at 456.

E. CONCLUSION

The trial court used an incorrect, overly lenient standard of review when it determined the search warrant affidavit established the reliability of the confidential informant. The search warrant affidavit did not set forth sufficient specific facts to meet the heightened showing of reliability for an unidentified informant. The assertion that the informant's information was corroborated by other "reliable sources" was simply conclusory. The assertion that the informant accurately described Mr. Lemmon's property was innocuous. The assertion that the informant previously provided tips that led to arrests and charges was extremely vague. The assertion that the informant purchased drugs from Mr. Lemmon at his residence was based solely on an improperly executed controlled buy. As defense counsel argued, "zero plus zero plus zero equals zero." RP 9. For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Lemmon respectfully requests this Court reverse his convictions for possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance and unlawful possession of a controlled

substance, and remand for suppression of the evidence obtained pursuant to a defective search warrant.