A. STATE'S COUNTER- STATEMENT OF ISSUE PERTAINING

TO APPELLANT'SASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Lemmon asserts that the trial court erred in denying his trial
court motion to suppress evidence obtained from execution
of the search warrant. Lemmon asserts that the judge who
issued the search warrant had insufficient probable cause to
issue the warrant because the affidavit in support of the
warrant failed to establish the credibility of a confidential
informant. In response, the State avers that the confidential
informant's credibility was sufficiently established.

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

C. ARGUMENT

Lemmon asserts that the trial court erred in denying his trial
court motion to suppress evidence obtained from execution
of the search warrant. Lernmon asserts that the judge who
issued the search warrant had insufficient probable cause to
issue the warrant because the affidavit in support of the
warrant failed to establish the credibility of a confidential
informant. In response, the State avers that the confidential
informant's credibility was sufficiently established.

i) State's response to Lemmon's arguments at paragraphs 1, 2,
and 3 of the Brief of Appellant.

The State sees no basis to dispute Lemmon's legal assertions

contained in the first two numbered sections of his brief at pages 5 -8. At
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the numbered section "3" of his argument, however, Lemmon

misconstrues the legal test applied by the trial court. Brief of Appellant at

Washington follows the Aguilar - Spinella test to establish probable

cause for the issuance of a search warrant. State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d

91, 111 -12, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). The Aguilar- Spinelli test requires that

where a search warrant is based upon an informant's tip, the affidavit in

support of the warrant must establish the informant's; (1) basis of

knowledge; and (2) veracity. Vickers at 112.

Lemmon focuses upon the trial court's finding of fact no. 3, where

the trial court stated that "[i]n determining the reliability of the

confidential informant, the Court looks at the totality of the information

set forth in the affidavit." Brief of Appellant at 8; CP 24 (Conclusion of

Law No. 3). Lemmon argues that the trial court erred because Washington

has "specifically rejected the federal t̀otality of the circumstances' test"

that is applicable to search warrants. Brief of Appellant at 9. The State

2 Effort was made to follow the punctuation and spelling of the original document.
3

Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 89 S.Ct. 584, 21 L.Ed.2d 637 (1969); flguilar v.
Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 12 L.Ed,2d 723 (1964).
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agrees that the correct test under Washington law is the Aguilar - Spinelli

test,

But the trial court in this case did not use the totality of the

circumstances test to determine probable cause in this case. The trial court

correctly applied the Aguilar-Spinelli test to determine probable cause for

issuance of the warrant. CP 23 -24 (Conclusions of Law 1, 7); RP 15 -21.

Thus, the trial court did not erroneously apply the federal totality of the

circumstances test in the instant case to determine probable cause for the

search warrant; instead, the trial court considered the totality of the

circumstances, or in other words looked to "the information contained in

the f̀our corners' of the search warrant affidavit," when assessing the

confidential informant's veracity. CP 23 (Conclusion of Law No. 1).

ii) State's response to Lemmon's arguments at paragraph 4 of
the Brief of Appellant.

Lemmon asserts that "[t]he affidavit did not assert sufficient facts

to allow an independent assessment of the informant's reliability. To

4
Reviewing court may look to oral ruling to explain or give context to written rulings.

See, e.g., State v. Carlson, 143 Wn. App. 507, 178 P.3d 371 (2008); Tyler v, Grange Ins.
Ass'n, 3 Wn. App. I67, 473 P.2d 193 (1970)
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advance this point, Lemmon individually disputes the weight to be given

to each of the facts that the district court judge considered when issuing

the search warrant. Brief of Appellant at 10 -15. But the correct method

for viewing the facts is in totality, because "[a] single fact in an affidavit,

when viewed in isolation, may not constitute probable cause." State v.

Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 110, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). However, "when read

together with other facts stated in the document, the affidavit... [may

satisfy] the requirement for evidence necessary to establish probable

cause." Id The reviewing court grants great deference to the discretion of

the court that issued the warrant, and doubts about whether there was

sufficient probable cause are generally resolved by validating the search

warrant. Id. at 108.09.

On appeal, the sole inquiry of the reviewing court is whether the

trial court's findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record.

Id. at 116. The party who challenges a finding of fact bears the burden of

proving that the finding is not supported by substantial evidence in the

record, Id.

In the instant case, the confidential informant (CI) conducted a

controlled buy from Lemmon at the direction of detectives. CP 57 -58.
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Lemmon takes issue with the controlled buy because it was an imperfect

controlled buy. Brief of Appellant at 12 -15. The controlled buy was

imperfect because detectives "couldn't keep a constant visual on the PO

all the way down to Lemmon's residence, due to the rural setting and

location of his residence." CP 58.

Where police are able to keep a Cl under constant surveillance

during a controlled buy and are able to witness the sale of drugs, the

controlled buy is regarded as a "properly executed" controlled buy, which

may be self - corroborating of even an untrustworthy informant's veracity,

at least as far as that particular information is concerned. See, e.g., State v.

Casto, 39 Wn. App. 229, 234, 692 P.2d 890 (1984), review denied, 103

Wn.2d 1020 (1985). Under such circumstances, the single fact of a

controlled buy may satisfy both prongs of the Aguilar- Spinelli test. Casto

at 234. But, while not self - corroborating, Lemmon has provided no

authority to support an assertion that an imperfect controlled buy is not

otherwise useful when combined with other facts to support a finding of

probable cause.

In the instant case, the Cl was searched before and after the

controlled buy; he /she left with inventoried money, and he /she returned

State's Response Brief Mason County Prosecutor
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with illegal drugs. CP 57 -58. The buy occurred in a rural neighborhood.

Id. Arguably, because the transaction was not witnessed by detectives, it

was theoretically possible that, with enough planning and good fortune,

the Cl could have obtained the drugs from somewhere other than

Lemmon'shouse. CP 57 -58. But the Cl had admitted to drug dealing,

and he /she was working as a Cl because he /she was hoping to receive

favorable treatment in regard to charges he /she was facing. CP 58 -59.

Search warrant applications are to be viewed and judged in the light of

common sense. State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995).

The State contends that it would make little sense to suppose that the CI in

the instant would have any imaginable motivation to risk a fake buy from

an innocent person, where the risk would be substantial that a subsequent,

fruitless search warrant would expose the sham. "That an informant may

be trying to win favorable treatment in his own case will usually

strengthen the motivation to tell the truth, because the informant knows his

own fate will be affected by the ability of law enforcement officials to rely

on his information." State v. Casto, 39 Wn. App. 229, 235.n.2, 692 P.2d

890 (1984).
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Still more, the Cl gave corroborating information that indicated

that he /she had, in fact, been to the Lemmon residence. CP 58. The CI

described the people who were then currently inside the residence and also

described the property. CP 58. The property description was verified by a

subsequent investigation by law enforcement. CP 58.

The CI had a criminal history, which included crimes of

dishonesty. CP 58. A CI's credibility can be substantially increased if the

person is not involved in criminal activity. State v. Ibarra, 61 Wn. App.

695, 700, 812 P.2d 114 (1991). But the more fact that the CI has been

convicted of crimes in the past does not "vitiate the warrant." State v.

Taylor, 74 Wn. App. 111, 118-19,872 P.2d 53 (1994), citing State v.

Garrison, 118 Wn.2d 870, 873, 827 P.2d 1388 (1992).

The Cl in the instant case had provided information to detectives in

the past, and this past information had led to "several arrests and felony

charges." CP 58. Lemmon argues that this fact is not corroborative of the

CI's reliability or veracity because there was no mention of how far in the

past these things occurred, the number of arrests of or charges, or whether

any of these resulted in convictions. Brief of Appellant at 11.
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The State avers that the fact that the CI has proved reliable and

truthful in the past is important evidence of his current reliability, but that

the age of any past demonstration of reliability is not determinative of

whether the CI is currently reliable. Regardless, the fact that the Cl has

been credible in the past is currently useful information.

Additionally, the fact that the CI has only provided information on

several" occasions may not generate the weight of confidence that would

be generated by 2'/ years of corroboration, as in State v. Taylor, 74 Wn.

App, 111, 118 -19, 872 P.2d 53 (1994), but the fact that the CI has proved

reliable on several occasions is still entitled to some weight. Id,; Casto, 39

Wn. App, at 233.

Lemmon argues that providing information that merely results in

arrests and charges but not necessarily convictions does not establish a

track record of reliability. Brief of Appellant at 11 -12. The State

contends that while a resulting conviction may bolster the weight to be

given to an assessment of reliability based on past experiences with the CI,

it is also true that not all cases result in arrests, charges or convictions.

Police may choose to continue an investigation rather than expose an

investigation by malting an immediate arrest, or the target of the

State's Response Brief Mason County Prosecutor
Case No. 44166 -7 -II PO Box 639

Shelton, WA 98584
360- 427 -9670 ext. 417

II -



investigation may choose to become a Cl rather than face a conviction, or

any number of contingencies may occur. The important thing is whether

the CI's past information has proved reliable. The fact that the

information led to arrests and subsequent charges shows the tip to be

corroborated.

Finally, Lemmon challenges the detective's use of the term "rural"

in the affidavit for a search warrant. Brief of Appellant at 12. Lemmon

contends that use of the term "rural" was misleading, because -- he

contends -- there were other houses in the area where the controlled buy

occurred, and -- at least theoretically -- the CI could have obtained the

illegal drugs from somewhere other than Lemmon's house. But

Lemmon's challenge relies on evidence that is found outside the four

corners of the warrant affidavit, and this challenge does not satisfy the

requirements as established by Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S.

Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978). See, State v. Casio, 39 Wn. App. at

234 -35. To prevail on this theory, Lemmon must show that the detective's

affidavit recklessly or intentionally misrepresented a material fact. Id.

Here, the dispute about whether the area was rural is a dispute derived
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from individual perspective, and because the detective disclosed that he

did not witness the Cl at Lemmon's house, the term is not material.

Lemmon provides a quote, as follows, which he seemingly

attributes to Conclusion of Law 6:

The use of the word r̀ural' by Det. Valley in describing the area
and location of the Defendant's residence... indicates a complete
lack of other buildings or residences in the area...."

Brief of Appellant at 12. But this quoted language does not correspond to

the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, CP 23 -24.

Instead, this quoted language is from a document that appears in the

Clerk's Papers Index" as "Statement by Quillian on Findings" at CP 25.

The document is captioned: "Add to paragraph 6: ". CP 25. There is no

further explanation about what document this document refers to. Id.

Paragraph 6 of the trial court's conclusions of law states: "The

controlled buy, as set forth in the affidavit, provides sufficient basis for

reliability of the informant." CP 24, Paragraph 9 of the conclusions

states: "The court interpreted word r̀ural' in the affidavit to mean that the

setting is amidst some trees and not amidst other residences." CP 24; RP

18 (lines 7 and 8). This, of course, is the view of the reviewing court (i.e.,

s Mr. Quillian was Leminon's trial attorney. RP 1 -128.
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the superior court hearing the CrR 3.6 motion), rather than the view of the

district court judge who issued the warrant. The affidavit says simply that

because of "the rural setting and location of [ Lemmon's] residence[,]" the

detective was unable to "beep a constant visual... all the way down to

Lemmon's residence...." CP 58. Whatever facts might be imagined from

use of the word "rural" are what is in dispute.

Thus, considering the totality of the facts known from the affidavit,

the credibility prong of the Aguilar- Spinelli test is well established on the

facts of this case, The individual facts might or might not amount to

probable cause, but the facts taken as a whole do,

Affidavits are to be read as a whole, in a common sense,

nontechnical manner, with doubts resolved in favor of the warrant, Casto,

39 Wn. App, at 232. Generally, great deference is given to the issuing

magistrate's probable cause determination. State v. Young, 123 Wn,2d 173,

195, 867 P.2d 593 (1994). When viewed in this light, the totality of the

facts fotiind in the four corners of the search warrant affidavit support a

finding of probable cause based upon the complete satisfaction of both

prongs of the Aguilar- Spinelli test.
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D. CONCLUSIO

For the reasons stated above, the State asks the court to sustain the

trial court's findings validating the search warrant in this case and to

sustain the jury's verdict in this case,

DATED: September 4, 2013.

MICHAEL DORCY

Mason County
Prosecuting Attorney

Tim Aiggs
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA 925919